STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge
Case No. 2017-GS-42-5423

RECEIVED
JUN 28 2019
SC Court of Appeals

The State,

Respondent,

v.

Lorenzo Guillermo Daniel Calderon,

Appellant

APPELLATE CASE NO. 2018-001707

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

M. CLAIRE HALL

Parker, Poe, Adams & Bernstein LLP
1221 Main Street, Suite 1100
Columbia, South Carolina 29201
(803) 253-8914

Robert M. Dudek
South Carolina Commission on Indigent Defense
Division of Appellate Defense
P.O. Box 11589
Columbia, South Carolina 29211

ATTORNEYS FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF ISSUES ON APPEAL

I. Did the trial judge err in failing to direct a verdict in favor of the Appellant on the charge of Accessory After the Fact to a Felony where the State did not present direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence to prove Appellant's guilt of all of the elements of the offense as charged?

II. Did the trial judge err in allowing the introduction of evidence of prior wrongs or acts by the Appellant that was (i) irrelevant and inconsequential to the probability of whether or not Appellant committed the offense of Accessory After the Fact to a Felony because they occurred before the felony, and (ii) if at all relevant, was unfairly prejudicial, confusing, and misleading?

III. Did the trial judge err in allowing the introduction of a gun that was (i) irrelevant and inconsequential to the probability of whether or not Appellant committed the offense of Accessory After the Fact to a Felony because it was not used in the felony, and (ii) if at all relevant, was unfairly prejudicial, confusing, and misleading?

IV. Did the trial judge err in refusing to grant immunity pursuant to the Protection of Persons and Property Act where it misstated the evidence offered at the hearing on Appellant's motion for immunity and applied a higher burden of proof?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

On October 27, 2017, a Spartanburg County grand jury indicted Appellant for Accessory After the Fact to a Felony. Indictment 2017-GS-42-5423.

Appellant filed a “Notice of motion invoking immunity under Section 16-11-440(C)” of the South Carolina Code of Laws, 1976, as amended on August 28, 2018. Notice, filed August 28, 2018. A hearing was held before Honorable J. Derham Cole court on August 29, 2018. The trial court issued its order denying Appellant’s motion on September 5, 2018. Order, dated September 5, 2018.

The State, represented by Derrick B. Balsa and Jesse Michael Williams, called the case for trial on September 10-13, 2018, before Judge Cole and a jury. Transcript page 1. Monier Mufid Abusaft represented Appellant. Tr. 1. The jury found Appellant guilty as charged. Tr. 596, lines 14-7. Judge Cole sentenced Appellant to fifteen years imprisonment. Tr. 605, ll. 9-14; Sentence sheet.

On September 18, 2018, Appellant served his notice of appeal. This brief follows.

ARGUMENT

I. Because the State did not present direct evidence or substantial circumstantial evidence to prove Appellant’s guilt of all of the elements of the offense charged, the trial judge erred in failing to direct a verdict in favor of the Appellant.

Standard of review

Where the State fails to produce evidence of the offense charged, the trial court must direct a verdict in favor of the defendant. State v. Odems, 395 S.C. 582, 596, 720 S.E.2d 48, 50 (2011) (citing State v. McHoney, 335 S.C. 34, 46, 515 S.E.2d 525, 531 (1999)). On appeal of a denial of a directed verdict, the evidence shall be viewed in a light most favorable to the State. Odems, 395 S.C. at 586, 720 S.E.2d at 50.

Relevant Facts

In the early evening of May 5, 2017, Devin Ruttle shot and killed Dalton Moore in the parking lot of a community center on Foster Street in Cowpens, South Carolina. Tr. 99, ll. 15-21; Tr. 100, ll. 13-16; Tr. 105, ll. 7-9; Tr.117, l. 15 - Tr. 118, l. 5; Tr. 392, ll. 10-11. While driving his car in Cowpens, Ruttle saw Moore walking along Foster Street near the community center and saw Moore motion to him, but Ruttle did not stop at that time. Tr. 387, l. 23 – Tr. 388, l. 9. Shortly thereafter, Appellant came to be a passenger in Ruttle’s car. Tr. 389, ll. 15-23. Ruttle believed Appellant and Moore had some type of ongoing disagreement. Tr. 383, ll. 14-18. Ruttle decided he wanted to speak to Moore to ensure Moore knew Ruttle had nothing to do with any disagreements between Appellant and Moore. Tr. 388, ll. 15-18. Ruttle parked his car on a side street out of view of the community center, left his car and the Appellant, and walked to the community center. Tr. 451, ll. 15-25; Tr. 390, ll. 11-14, 22-25.

Ruttle testified that immediately upon reaching Moore and beginning to speak to him, Moore moved toward him and pulled a knife from behind his back. Tr. 391, ll. 1-5, l. 21. Fearing for his life, Ruttle pulled a gun from his waistband and told Moore to stop. Tr. 391, ll. 22-24; Tr. 392, ll. 5-6; Tr. 393 ll. 12-13; Tr. 397, ll. 11-17. Ruttle testified that Moore continued to step toward him so he attempted to fire a warning shot, but the gun did not fire. Tr. 392, ll. 2-4. As he was walking backwards, Ruttle saw Moore “charging towards” him so he fired again, this time striking Moore. Tr. 392, ll. 8-11.

After Moore had been struck, Ruttle noticed the Appellant had driven his car back onto Foster Street. Tr. 392, ll. 18-21. Ruttle got into the car and the Appellant drove the car to the end of Foster street, where Ruttle again took the wheel. Tr. 392, ll. 22-24. Ruttle testified this distance was covered in probably less than 1 minute or even 30 seconds. Tr. 405, ll. 6-14. Ruttle recalled he told Appellant about the knife and what happened either before or after they switched

drivers. 404, l. 18 – Tr. 405, l. 5. Thereafter, Appellant was with Ruttle until Ruttle was stopped by police. Tr. 405, ll. 20-25. Based on the testimony it appears police stopped Ruttle approximately an hour or less after the shooting. Tr. 100, ll. 15-16; Tr. 183, l. 24 – Tr. 184, l. 7; Tr. 185, ll. 23-25.

Appellant did not drive the car again, did not alter the appearance of the car, did not dispose of the gun used in the shooting, did not dispose of any of Ruttle's clothing, and did not offer to assist Ruttle to leave the area. Tr. 399, ll. 4-13; Tr. 405, l. 20 – Tr. 406, ll. 11; Tr. 407, ll. 16-24. As Ruttle testified, Appellant was merely present. Tr. 407, l. 25 – Tr. 408, l. 1. The State Law Enforcement Division (“SLED”) Special Agent who was responsible for the investigation, Special Agent Owens, even testified that his investigation did not lead him to believe Appellant assisted Ruttle after the shooting. Tr. 277, ll. 10-12, Tr. 281, ll. 15-18. Nevertheless, the State chose to prosecute Appellant for an Accessory After the Fact to a Felony. Indictment. The trial court denied Appellant's motion for a directed verdict. Tr. 364, ll. 11-13; Tr. 503, ll. 7-9.

Discussion

The trial court erred in denying Appellant's motion for a directed verdict because the State failed to offer evidence to prove guilt beyond a reasonable doubt of Accessory After the Fact to a Felony.

To establish guilt of an Accessory After the Fact to a Felony, the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt that 1) a felony has been completed, 2) the accused had knowledge the principal committed the felony, and 3) the accused harbored or assisted the principal felon, 4) for the purpose of enabling the principal felon to escape detection or arrest. State v. Blakely, 402 S.C. 650, 656, 742 S.E.2d 29, 32 (2013). “It is a fundamental concept of criminal law that the State must prove beyond a reasonable doubt all the elements of the offense charged. . . .” State v. Brown, 360 S.C. 581, 590, 602 S.E.2d 392, 397 (2004).

“The accused is entitled to a directed verdict when the State fails to present evidence on a material element of the offense charged.” Brown, 360 S.C. at 586, 602 S.E.2d at 395 (2004). While it is the job for the jury to weigh the evidence, “it becomes the duty of the trial judge to direct a verdict” where there is an absence of evidence. State v. Bostick, 392 S.C. 134, 139, 708 S.E. 2d 774, 776. (citing State v. Schrock, 283 S.C. 129, 134, 322 S.E.2d 450, 452-53.(1984)). In ruling on a directed verdict motion, the trial court “views the evidence in the light most favorable to the State and must submit the case to the jury if there is ‘any substantial evidence which reasonably tends to prove the guilt of the accused, or from which his guilt may be fairly and logically deduced.’” State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 473, 783 S.E.2d 802, 807 (2016) (quoting State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 236, 781 S.E.2d 352, 354 (2016)).

“If there is any direct or *substantial* circumstantial evidence reasonably tending to prove the guilt of the accused,” then the case is properly submitted to the jury. Odems, 395 S.C. at 586, 720 S.E.2d at 50. However, where the evidence raises only a suspicion of guilt, the trial court should grant a directed verdict in favor of the accused. Bostick, 392 S.C. at 142, 708 S.E.2d at 778. In Bostick the South Carolina Supreme Court held the State had only raised a suspicion of guilt of the accused at his trial for the offense of murder. Id. The State presented multiple items of circumstantial evidence against the Bostick including: 1) personal items of the deceased found in the accused’s family’s burn pile, 2) the burn pile was accelerated by kerosene or diesel fuel, which the accused’s mother did not use, 3) the accused’s shoes had a pattern of gasoline, which was used as the accelerant for the house fire where the deceased was found dead, and 4) blood was found on the accused’s jeans. Id. at 141, 708 S.E.2d at 778. The Supreme Court held this circumstantial evidence raised only a suspicion of guilt and reversed the circuit court’s error in failing to direct a verdict in favor of the accused. Id. In the case of the Appellant, the State

presented far less circumstantial evidence tending to prove Appellant's guilt than was presented in Bostick.

In State v. Lollis, 343 S.C. 580, 541 S.E.2d 254 (2001), Lollis appealed the trial court's denial of his motion for directed verdict after he was convicted of arson of his home. His wife confessed to setting the fire and asserted that her husband did not know about it. Id. at 582, 541 S.E.2d at 255. The evidence against Lollis amounted to unsubstantiated allegations of financial difficulties, his relationship to the person who confessed to starting the fire, and the fact he had a key to a storage unit where he stored some of his valuables. Id. at 584, 541 S.E.2d at 253. Lollis testified that the purpose of the storage unit was to keep certain items out of the way while he did renovations to the house. Id. at 585, 541 S.E.2d at 256. The Supreme Court held that the evidence against Lollis raised nothing more than a suspicion of guilt and that the trial court erred by denying Lollis' motion for directed verdict. Id. In the case of Appellant, the State similarly presented evidence that amounted to nothing more than suspicion of guilt. The fact that Appellant appeared near the scene of the shooting driving Ruttle's car after the shooting and then drove no more than a few blocks before exiting the driver seat is not substantial circumstantial evidence that Appellant knew a felony had been committed and that he aided Ruttle with the intent to help him avoid arrest or detection.

In State v. Bennett the Supreme Court of South Carolina clarified that "in ruling on a directed verdict motion where the State relies on circumstantial evidence, the court must determine whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt." Id. at 237, 781 S.E.2d at 354. In a case brought on circumstantial evidence, a jury may only convict the accused where "every circumstance relied upon by the State [is] proven beyond a reasonable doubt; and ... all of the circumstances proven

[are] consistent with each other and taken together, point conclusively to the guilt of the accused to the exclusion of every other reasonable hypothesis.” Odems, 395 S.C. at 591, 720 S.E.2d at 53. The circumstantial evidence explanation in Odems illustrates the lack of evidence against the Appellant. In Odems the Supreme Court held that although it may have been suspicious that Odems was found in the getaway car connected to a burglary, he subsequently fled from law enforcement, and then requested for assistance from an uninvolved person, this evidence did not reasonably tend to prove Odems’ guilt of charges stemming from the burglary. Odems, 395 S.C. at 590-592, 720 S.E.2d at 52-53. Taken together, the circumstances presented as to the Appellant do not point conclusively to guilt of the offense charged nor are they sufficient for a reasonable juror to find him guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.

With respect to an Accessory After the Fact to a Felony charge the State bears the burden of proving beyond a reasonable doubt that the accused not only assisted the principal but also knew of the felony and that the assistance was for the purpose of enabling the principal to avoid arrest. Hooks v. State, 353 S.C. 48, 52, 577 S.E.2d 211, 213 (2003) (overruled by State v. Gentry, 363 S.C. 93, 610 S.E.2d 494 (2005) on other grounds).

At the trial of the Appellant, the State failed to introduce evidence that the Appellant knew the principal (Ruttle) had committed a felony. The testimony indicates the Appellant was out of sight and would not have seen what transpired between Ruttle and Moore and, therefore, had no way of knowing which, if either, of the men did any shooting or if anyone was struck. Tr. 390, ll. 22-25; Tr. 425, ll. 12-25. Ruttle asserted self-defense at trial. Tr. 397, ll. 11-17. Self-defense is a complete defense. State v. Davis, 282 S.C. 45, 46, 317 S.E.2d 452, 453 (1984). Ruttle testified that he told Appellant “that Dalton had a knife and that he came towards me” Tr.

403, l. 16-23. A review of the testimony indicates the Appellant would not have known a felony had been committed, one of the required elements of an Accessory After the Fact to a Felony.

The State also failed to introduce evidence that the Appellant assisted the principal (Ruttle) with the purpose of enabling him to escape arrest or detection. Although Ruttle testified that after the shooting he got into his car that was being driven by Appellant, he did not testify that Appellant drove the car to help him escape the police. Tr. 392, ll. 18-24. Appellant could have driven the car from where Ruttle parked back to Foster Street for any number of reasons other than for the purpose of assisting Ruttle in escaping arrest or detection. The State did not introduce any evidence tending to show why Appellant drove Ruttle's car back to Foster Street from where Appellant had parked. The State called seven witnesses who were all inside or behind their homes across the street from where the shooting happened. Tr. 2, l. 17 – Tr. 3, l. 18. One of these witnesses testified to hearing a revved car engine after he heard the gunshots. Tr. 161, l. 15. None of the other witnesses testified regarding hearing any revving car engine or speeding car. The lone witness's testimony about the car engine amounts to speculation, at best, as to the Appellant's intent and is not proof of, but is merely a suspicion of guilt.

Further, Special Agent Owens testified he had no reason to believe Appellant assisted Ruttle. Tr. 281, ll. 15-18. Ruttle testified Appellant did not assist him nor offer to assist him avoid detection or arrest. Tr. 407, l. 16 – Tr. 408, l. 1. A witness who saw Ruttle and the Appellant after the shooting testified Appellant was not providing any assistance to Ruttle. Tr. 460, l. 18 – Tr. 461, l. 12; Tr. 461, ll. 13-19.

More evidence was presented that the Appellant in fact did not assist Ruttle with avoiding arrest or detection than was presented that he did know a felony had been committed and he assisted Ruttle avoid arrest or detection.

Viewing the evidence in a light most favorable to the State, the evidence presented by the State was not sufficient for a reasonable juror to conclude beyond a reasonable doubt that Appellant knew Ruttle had committed a felony, assisted him, and did it for the purpose of helping Ruttle avoid arrest or detection. The State failed to present evidence of all of the material elements of Accessory After the Fact to a Felony and, at best, raised merely a suspicion of guilt. Therefore, this Court should find the trial court erred in failing to direct a verdict in favor of the Appellant.

II. Because evidence of prior wrongs or acts by the Appellant was (i) irrelevant and inconsequential to the probability of whether or not Appellant committed the offense of Accessory After the Fact to a Felony and (ii) if at all relevant, was unfairly prejudicial, confusing, and misleading, the trial judge erred in allowing the introduction of such evidence at trial.

Standard of review

“The admission or exclusion of evidence is left to the sound discretion of the trial judge, whose decision will not be reversed on appeal absent an abuse of discretion.” State v. Lyles, 379 S.C. 328, 333, 665 S.E.2d 201, 204 (Ct. App. 2008). “A court’s ruling on the admissibility of evidence will not be reversed by this Court absent an abuse of discretion or the commission of legal error which results in prejudice to the defendant.” Id.

Relevant Facts

Appellant incorporates herein the “Relevant Facts” presented under Argument I and further states the following: a few weeks prior to the shooting, Appellant and Moore had an interaction sometime around Easter of 2017 (the “Easter Incident”). Tr. 382, ll. 2-7, l. 12 – Tr. 383, l. 7. At that time, Appellant was a passenger in Ruttle’s car when it was stalled and Moore

came running toward the car with his hand behind his back, which caused Ruttle to panic. Tr. 382, l. 12 – Tr. 383, l. 4. Appellant then presented a gun and Moore immediately retreated away from the car and nothing further took place. Tr. 383, ll. 4-7.

Later, on the date of Moore’s death, May 5, 2017, Appellant was riding in a truck driven by Hunter Sizemore when Sizemore passed Moore, who was walking along Foster Street. Tr. 203, ll. 4-8; Tr. 204, l. 17 – Tr. 205, l. 4; Tr. 209, l. 23 – Tr. 210, l. 17. According to Sizemore’s testimony, Appellant “hollered something out the window” at Moore that sounded like “don’t get caught lacking.” Tr. 209, ll. 19-24; Tr. 210, ll. 18-25. A few hours after that, Appellant was a passenger in Sizemore’s truck riding behind Ruttle’s car when Moore waved at Ruttle to stop. When Ruttle turned around, Appellant got out of Sizemore’s truck and into Ruttle’s car, where Ruttle told him to stay after he decided to stop and go speak to Moore. Tr. 388, l. 25 – Tr. 389, l. 2; Tr. 389, ll. 15-23; Tr. 390, ll. 2-11. Appellant gave Ruttle a gun “just in case,” but at no point did they have a conversation about Ruttle shooting Moore. Tr. 390, ll. 15-21; Tr. 403, ll. 4-15; Tr. 414, ll. 19 – Tr. 415, l. 1. Over objections of Appellant, the trial court admitted testimony concerning these prior acts of Appellant. Tr. 210, l. 16 – Tr. 211, l. 10; Tr. 414, l. 19 – Tr. 417, l. 21; Tr. 432, ll. 11-21; Tr. 491, ll. 24-25; Tr. 497, l. 14 – Tr. 502, l. 23; Tr. 512, ll. 2-22; Tr. 594, l. 24 – Tr. 595, l. 4; Tr. 599, ll. 8-13.

Discussion

The trial court erred, over objections of Appellant, in allowing the introduction of evidence, through witness testimony, alleging prior wrongs or acts of the Appellant because the testimony was irrelevant, unfairly prejudicial, confused the issues, and was misleading to the jury.

Relevant evidence is any “evidence having any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than

it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. “Evidence which is not relevant is not admissible.” Rule 402, SCRE.

In Lyles the Court of Appeals upheld the trial court’s exclusion of testimony proffered by two defendants, both on trial for murder, regarding previous drug sales and the presence of drugs at the apartment where the murder occurred, finding “no probative link between the proffered testimony and the pending charges”. Id. at 339, 665 S.E.2d at 207. The defense argued that the proffered testimony went to the credibility of the defendants in their assertions that they went to the apartment to buy drugs. Id. at 340, 665 S.E.2d at 207. The Court of Appeals held that the proffered testimony was not offered as a defense or mitigation and therefore “not probative of any issue material to reaching a verdict.” Id. The Court of Appeals concluded that the “absence of a logical connection to the facts in debate makes the evidence irrelevant and inadmissible.” Id.

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