ORIGINAL

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County
J. Derham Cole, Circuit Court Judge

The State of South Carolina,

Respondent,

vs.

Lorenzo Guillermo Daniel Calderon,

Appellant.

Appellate Case No. 2018-001707

FINAL BRIEF OF RESPONDENT

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DAVID SPENCER
Senior Assistant Attorney General

Post Office Box 11549
Columbia, SC 29211
(803) 734-3727

BARRY J. BARNETTE
Solicitor, Seventh Judicial Circuit

180 Magnolia Street, Third Floor
Spartanburg, SC 29306

ATTORNEYS FOR RESPONDENT

RECEIVED

MAR 09 2020

SC Court of Appeals

STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA

IN THE COURT OF APPEALS

Appeal from Spartanburg County

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

ARGUMENT

I.

Because Appellant drove his co-defendant away after his codefendant shot the victim, a reasonable juror could find Appellant committed accessory after the fact to murder and therefore, the trial court properly denied the motion for directed verdict. Further, the issue is not preserved for review because Appellant failed to state any grounds in support of his motion for directed verdict to the trial court.

Appellant alleges evidence was not sufficient for the case to be submitted to the jury. However, it is undisputed that Appellant drove Ruttle away from the immediate scene after Ruttle shot Victim. Seven neighbors heard the gunshots, and Appellant hastily drove the vehicle away, rapidly accelerating as he turned down a side street.

At the close of the State's evidence, Appellant's counsel made only a generalized directed verdict motion, stating, "We move also for a directed verdict. We believe in the light most favorable to the state they have not met their burden to go before the jury." R. p. 381, lines 11-13. Neither defendant moved for directed verdict after they rested their respective cases. R. p. 496. Following the State's reply witness, Appellant's counsel moved for directed verdict, arguing "I renew my request for a directed verdict. I don't believe the state has met its burden to go forward to the jury." R. p. 505, lines 1-3.

Merely moving for a directed verdict without stating any grounds is insufficient to preserve a directed verdict issue for review. State v. Kennerly, 331 S.C. 442, 503 S.E.2d 214 (Ct. App. 1998) *aff'd*, 337 S.C. 617, 524 S.E.2d 837 (1999). Issues not raised to the trial court in support of the directed verdict motion are not preserved for appellate review. State v. Russell, 345 S.C. 128, 132, 546 S.E.2d 202, 204 (Ct. App. 2001); State v. Jordan, 255 S.C. 86, 177 S.E.2d 464 (1970).

Because Appellant failed to make any argument or direct the trial court as to what elements of the offense Appellant believed the State failed to prove, Appellant failed to preserve for review any argument that the trial court erred in declining to direct a verdict.

Further, the State presented sufficient evidence to present the case to the jury. When considering a motion for directed verdict, the trial court is concerned with the existence of evidence, not its weight. State v. Walker, 349 S.C. 49, 53, 562 S.E.2d 313, 315 (2002). In reviewing the denial of a motion for a directed verdict, the reviewing court must view the evidence in the light most favorable to the State. Id.

Once a defendant comes forward with proof, the propriety of a directed verdict is judged on all the evidence. State v. Hepburn, 406 S.C. 416, 432, 753 S.E.2d 402, 410 (2013). However, when a defendant only offers proof to explain, impeach, or rebut a codefendant's testimony, such evidence will not be considered in the directed verdict analysis. Id. at 433, 753 S.E.2d at 410. In the instant case, Ruttle's testimony served to support Appellant's claims that he lacked knowledge of the freshly committed felony and that no felony occurred because Ruttle killed in self-defense. Appellant's one witness, Maria Calderon, was recalled to the stand by Appellant before Ruttle called any witnesses and Maria's testimony was in no way responsive to Ruttle's evidence that followed. State v. Phillips, 416 S.C. 184, 195, 785 S.E.2d 448, 453 (2016) (finding because appellant's testimony preceded her codefendant's defense, the waiver rule still applied). Accordingly, Hepburn's limitation on the waiver rule does not apply in the instant case. However, regardless of Ruttle's testimony, the State's evidence alone was sufficient to submit the case to the jury.

Ultimately, the question for review of the denial of a motion for directed verdict is whether, in view of the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, a rational trier of fact could find all

the elements beyond a reasonable doubt. State v. Robinson, 310 S.C. 535, 539, 426 S.E.2d 317, 318 (1992) (finding any rational trier of fact could have found all the elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt in affirming the denial of a motion for directed verdict and citing Jackson v. Virginia, 443 U.S. 307 (1979)). The task of the trial court is to simply determine “whether the evidence presented is sufficient to allow a reasonable juror to find the defendant guilty beyond a reasonable doubt.” State v. Bennett, 415 S.C. 232, 781 S.E.2d 352 (2016). The reviewing court should affirm if in viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the State, “the evidence could induce a reasonable juror to find [the defendant] guilty.” See State v. Pearson, 415 S.C. 463, 474, 783 S.E.2d 802, 808 (2016).

As observed in Pearson, the United States Supreme Court noted the following:

[T]he relevant question is whether, after viewing the evidence in the light most favorable to the prosecution, *any* rational trier of fact could have found the essential elements of the crime beyond a reasonable doubt. . . . This familiar standard gives full play to the responsibility of the trier of fact fairly to resolve conflicts in the testimony, to weigh the evidence, and to draw reasonable inferences from basic facts to ultimate facts.

Pearson, 415 S.C. at 471 n.2, 783 S.E.2d at 806 n.2 (quoting Jackson, at 319) (emphasis in the original); see also State v. Richburg, 250 S.C. 451, 459, 158 S.E.2d 769, 772 (1968) (“When the evidence is susceptible of more than one reasonable inference, questions of fact must be submitted to the jury.”).

To prove a defendant guilty of accessory after the fact, the State must prove the following elements: (1) a completed felony; (2) the accused knew the principal committed the felony; and (3) the accused harbored or assisted the principal felon. State v. Legette, 285 S.C. 465, 466, 330 S.E.2d 293, 294 (1985); State v. Blakely, 402 S.C. 650, 656, 742 S.E.2d 29, 32 (Ct. App. 2013). “The

assistance or harboring rendered must be for the purpose of enabling the principal felon to escape detection or arrest.” Legette, 285 S.C. at 467, 330 S.E.2d at 294. “An accessory after the fact is one who, knowing a felony to have been committed receives, relieves, comforts, or assists the felon.” State v. Nicholson, 221 S.C. 399, 405, 70 S.E.2d 632, 634 (1952) (citation and internal quotation marks omitted). The person must know of the felony and know the person aided is the guilty party, and the accused must intend to shield the person aided from the law. Id.

The Kentucky Court of Appeals observed, “Certainty of knowledge [a felony has been committed] is not required. It is sufficient that the accused had actual knowledge of facts which would give him good reason to believe the person assisted to be the felon.” Maddox v. Commonwealth, 349 S.W.2d 686, 688-89 (Ky. Ct. App. 1960).

A person merely present at the time of the crime may become an accessory after the fact if the person “thereafter aids the perpetrator to cover it up or escape from the crime.” State v. Collins, 329 S.C. 23, 27, 495 S.E.2d 202, 205 (1998). This is a recent modification to case law that now recognizes absence from the scene of the crime is not an essential element of accessory after the fact, and that “mere presence at the scene will not preclude an accessory verdict where the defendant becomes involved after the commission of the substantive offense.” Id. at 27-28, 495 S.E.2d at 205 (emphasis removed, internal quotation marks omitted).

The Kentucky Court of Appeals observed:

Any assistance whatever given to a felon to hinder his being apprehended, tried, or suffering punishment makes the assistor an accessory. IV Blackstone 37. ‘The true test for determining whether one is an accessory after the fact is, to consider whether what he did was done by way of personal help to his principal, with the view of enabling the principal to elude punishment – the kind of help rendered appearing to be unimportant.’ Bishop’s Criminal Law 365

(§634).

Maddox, at 689.

In Maddox, the defendant, a union field representative, was accused of accessory after the fact when a miner told Maddox he shot a man during a strike. Maddox gave the shooter a ride to nearby Barbourville, and then gave the shooter money to take a taxi cab to Pineville. Maddox claimed he took the shooter to Barbourville to surrender to police, and then when the shooter was worried about being subjected to violence there, Maddox gave him fare for the taxi so he could surrender to police in Pineville. However, a passenger contradicted this testimony, indicating Maddox never told the shooter he should surrender to law enforcement and that Maddox told the shooter to take the taxi home. Id. at 690-91. The Kentucky court observed, “Thus it may be seen that apart from Maddox’s own version of the matter there was very little in the evidence to persuade the jury that his motives were simon-pure.” Id. at 691. The court also held, “We do not think . . . that an intent on the part of [the shooter] to escape or avoid detection was necessary in order for Maddox to become an accessory.” Id. at 691.

In State v. Best, 674 S.E.2d 467, 472 (N.C. Ct. App. 2009), the North Carolina Court of Appeals found evidence supported that Best provided substantial assistance to the principals when he drove them away from the crime scene to a motel, washed the exterior and vacuumed the interior of the car, and picked up both principals at the hotel the next day, appearing at a party with one of the principals the next night.

In the instant case, Appellant does not contest the existence of a completed shooting. Ruttle shot Victim – the felony was already completed when he ran to his own car, which Appellant was driving. Further, a reasonable juror could infer Appellant was aware a felony was just committed.

Appellant had already switched seats and the vehicle was already moving towards Ruttle, who got in the vehicle and was driven away from the scene. Seven neighbors heard the gunfire, two from inside their house, so a reasonable juror could find Appellant must have also heard the gunfire given his closer proximity to the shooting. The car was described as turning off Foster and driving quickly to the dead end street, then racing back to Foster Street before leaving the immediate location of the shooting. A reasonable juror could find that Appellant rendered assistance to Ruttle by driving him from the immediate scene to avoid detection. The shooting occurred in a residential neighborhood and one neighbor already was present by the time Ruttle jumped in the vehicle. Other neighbors descended on the scene shortly thereafter. So the motive and need for a speedy getaway to avoid detection is readily apparent.

Therefore, there is sufficient evidence for a reasonable juror to find Appellant guilty of accessory after the fact. See People v. Scott, 170 Cal.App.3d 267 (Cal. Ct. App. 1st Dist. 1985) (finding evidence supported Scott as an accessory after the fact to a completed bank robbery where evidence showed she agreed to give a ride to the robber and dropped him off near the bank and waited for his return – she claimed not to know he was going to commit a crime. She drove him away when he returned, and loose cash was found in and around her purse when her car was stopped by police); Jones v. United States, 716 A.2d 160 (D.C. Ct. App. 1998) (noting “[e]ven if joining Rice in his flight would not in itself be enough to render appellant an accessory after the fact, this action could be considered by the jury as further proof bearing upon the nature and purpose of any ambiguous action in the cut.”).

II.

The trial court did not err in allowing testimony concerning several events constituting the res gestae of the crime. Appellant failed to preserve for review all but one complaint of error which was evidence he verbally taunted the victim earlier in the day from a moving vehicle. The testimony was admissible because its probative value was not outweighed by the negligible danger of unfair prejudice.

Appellant argues the trial court erred in allowing testimony concerning three events: (1) The “Easter incident” during which Appellant presented a weapon when Victim allegedly charged Ruttle and Appellant while they were in a vehicle. This was testified to by Ruttle during the defendants’ case. (2) Testimony by Hunter Sizemore that earlier in the day when they passed Victim walking on the street, Appellant yelled “don’t get caught lacking.” (3) Ruttle’s testimony that Appellant gave Ruttle a gun when he left the vehicle to speak with Victim. Appellant argues the evidence was not admissible under Rules 401, 402, 403, and 404, SCRE. Only the objection to Appellant warning Victim to not get caught “lacking” is preserved for review. Appellant did not object to Ruttle’s testimony before the jury so those complaints are not preserved for review.

Easter incident as testified to by Ruttle

Prior to trial, counsel made an in limine motion to exclude various prior incidents, the only objection relevant to this appeal being to an incident around Easter a few weeks prior to the murder. In response to the motion, the prosecution reminded the trial court, “Your Honor heard briefly about one during the pretrial hearing which it was just about – I think it was about three weeks prior to this involving both defendants being in the area of the victim’s house and a gun being pulled out on the victim.” R. p. 30, line 23 – p. 21, line 2. The prosecution argued that the incident went towards motive and intent. R. p. 31, lines 3-5. Appellant argued that because he was charged with accessory

after the fact, the prior incident would be irrelevant and prejudicial. The prosecution countered the evidence would show Appellant “helped ferret the shooter away from the scene and help him dispose of evidence.” R. p. 32, lines 1-9. The prior incident showed motive and intent “towards that he wanted something to happen to Dalton. Whether he initially caused it, encouraged it on that day in question, he certainly was in agreement with what happened.” R. p. 32, lines 10-13. The trial court found that what the parties referred to as the “Easter incident” was relevant because both defendants were present and the evidence went to the state of mind of each as well as the state of mind of the victim. R. p. 32, lines 16-21. Appellant argued his participation in the event should not be mentioned, because the incident was relevant as to Ruttle, but not Appellant. R. pp. 33-34. However, the trial court found it was relevant evidence showing either Ruttle or Victim were acting in self-defense at the time of the shooting. R. p. 34, lines 4-12.

After the State rested its case, Ruttle testified in his own defense. He testified that on Easter, he and Appellant went to see someone who Appellant knew in Victim’s neighborhood. Driving in the neighborhood, Ruttle saw Victim standing on the edge of his driveway with his hand behind his back. The car cutoff as Ruttle drove it up a hill and Ruttle saw in his mirror that Victim ran towards Ruttle’s car with his hand still behind his back. Ruttle testified he panicked and he alerted Appellant who “presented a weapon towards [Victim]” Victim then ran the other way. R. pp. 395-96. Appellant did not renew the earlier in limine objection when Ruttle testified about the Easter incident.

The issue concerning the admissibility of the Easter incident is not preserved for review. A ruling *in limine* is not a final ruling on the admissibility of evidence. State v. Griffin, 339 S.C. 74, 528 S.E.2d 668 (2000); State v. Hughes, 336 S.C. 585, 521 S.E.2d 500 (1999). Generally, a motion

in limine seeks a pre-trial evidentiary ruling to prevent the disclosure of potentially prejudicial matter to the jury. See State v. Floyd, 295 S.C. 518, 369 S.E.2d 842 (1988). A pre-trial ruling on the admissibility of evidence is preliminary, and is subject to change based on developments at trial. Id. Unless an objection is made at the time the evidence is offered and a final ruling made, the issue is not preserved for review. State v. Schumpert, 312 S.C. 502, 435 S.E.2d 859 (1993) *reversed on other grounds by* State v. Stukes, 416 S.C. 493, 787 S.E.2d 480 (2016).

Don't get caught lacking

Hunter Sizemore testified he was driving on Foster Street and Appellant was a passenger earlier on the day of the shooting. R.p. 245, lines 10-25. Specifically, Sizemore testified as follows on direct examination:

Q: You drove down Foster Street.

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And at some point you passed Dalton walking?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: And Mr. Calderon yelled something at him?

A: Yes, sir.

Q: Do you remember what it was?

A: Something like don't get caught lacking or something. It was something like don't get caught lacking or something.

Q: What does that mean?

A: Honestly, I don't have a clue.

[Appellant's counsel]: Objection, Your Honor. Speculation.

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